RECEIVED

12-29-2015

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013AP646-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LEOPOLDO R. SALAS GAYTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered by the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Judge Dennis R. Cimpl Presiding, and from an Order Denying the Postconviction Motion, Judge Ellen R. Brostrom Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

COLLEEN D. BALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000729

INTRODUCTION

This case stems from a tragic accident between two drunk drivers. Leopoldo Salas Gayton entered I-94 in the wrong direction, crashed into Corrie Damske and killed her. The circuit court described Damske as a beautiful, young mother, minding her own business, tragically taken away. It repeatedly called Salas Gayton an illegal alien, highlighted his Mexican heritage, and sentenced him to the 15-year maximum term of incarceration, though he had no prior OWIs. In Wisconsin, the median term of incarceration for all OWI homicides, including those involving repeat OWI offenders, is 5 years. ¹

There are an estimated 76,000 undocumented immigrants in Wisconsin.² Some of them become involved in our criminal justice system, and they are entitled to due process of law. This case gives the Wisconsin Supreme Court an opportunity to establish the protocol circuit courts should follow when sentencing an undocumented immigrant. Specifically:

- A circuit court may not sentence a defendant more harshly because he is an "illegal," an "illegal alien," or an "illegal immigrant" or because of his alienage, ethnicity, or national origin.
- A circuit court may consider a defendant's immigration violation as unlawful or uncharged conduct only if it is based on accurate and reliable

¹ Eric Litke, *Scales of Justice or Roulette Wheel*? Available at: http://www.postcrescent.com/story/news/investigations/2015/11/23/judic ial-sentencing-varies-wisconsin/76278810/ (last visited Dec. 14, 2015).

² Profile of the Unauthorized Population: Wisconsin, Migration Policy Institute, available at: http://www.migrationpolicy.org/data/unauthorized-immigrant-population/state/WI (last visited Dec. 18, 2015).

information and only if it reasonably relates to the sentencing decision.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court should vacate Salas Gayton's sentence and remand this case for a new sentencing hearing where the circuit court must apply these principles.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether a sentencing court may rely on a defendant's illegal immigrant status as a factor in fashioning a sentence; and if such reliance is improper, whether it is a structural error or subject to a harmless error analysis.

The court of appeals acknowledged that the circuit court relied upon Salas Gayton's status as an "illegal alien" from Mexico as a "minor" factor when it imposed a bifurcated sentence that included the maximum term of initial confinement. It nevertheless held that this was not an erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion. Judge Kessler filed a concurring opinion observing that, based upon the sentencing transcript, Salas Gayton could reasonably believe that the circuit court considered his immigration status a significant negative factor at sentencing, but she approved the sentence. *State v. Salas Gayton*, No. 2013AP646-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶23 (Wis. Ct. App. Oct. 7, 2014)(App. 101).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This appeal presents an issue of first impression for Wisconsin. As suggested by this Court's decision to grant review, it is worthy of oral argument and a published decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Charges and Plea

On January 6, 2011, the State filed a criminal complaint against Salas Gayton, alleging: count 1, homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.09(1)(a)1 and 939.50(3)(d); count 2, homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle (prohibited alcohol concentration), contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.09(1)(b) and 939.50(3)(d); and count 3, operating without a license causing death, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 343.05(5)(b)3d (2009-10) and 939.51(3)(a). (R.2).

According to the complaint, Salas Gayton drove his vehicle in the wrong direction in the westbound lanes of I-94 in Milwaukee on the morning of January 1, 2011. He collided with the vehicle driven by Corrie Damske, and she was pronounced dead at the scene. A toxicology report showed that Salas Gayton's blood alcohol concentration ("BAC") approximately two hours and twenty minutes after the accident was .145, which is over the legal presumptive intoxication limit. (R.2).

Damske's BAC was .21—nearly 3 times the legal limit—at 7:20 a.m., the time of her death. (R.2, R. 7).³

The State filed an Information containing counts 1 through 3 from the complaint. Salas Gayton pled not guilty to all three counts. On May 17, 2011, the circuit court conducted

³ The district attorney filed a motion in limine to exclude from trial toxicology reports showing that Damske's BAC was .21. Salas Gayton pled, so the circuit court did not decide the motion. Nevertheless, under Wisconsin law, the victim's characteristics are relevant to the defendant's sentence. *See State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶68, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197;. *See also State v. Spears*, 227 Wis. 2d 495, ¶25, 596 N.W.2d 375 (1999)(victim's criminal record is relevant to rebut family's portrayal of her.)

a plea hearing during which Salas Gayton changed his "not guilty" plea and pled "no contest" to counts 1 and 3. Count 2 was dismissed by operation of Wis. Stat. §940.09(1m)(b). (R.4).

The Sentencing

On July 22, 2011, the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl held a sentencing hearing. At the outset, he informed the parties that he had received a January 17, 2011 report from Dr. John Pankiewicz regarding Salas Gayton's competency, a June 29, 2011 probation department memo regarding the attempt to prepare a PSI, a restitution memo, six letters from Damske's family and friends; and a letter from Salas Gayton's fiancée. ⁴

Damkse's friends and family described her as "magnificent," "beautiful," "lovely," "passionate," and devoted to her daughter, who had just turned ten. They urged the court to give Salas Gayton the maximum sentence because he is an "illegal alien," an intentional violator of American laws, a "miserable drunk," and a "killer." Consider these excerpts:

From Attorney James Friedman, a family friend:

Not only was Mr. Gayton in the country illegally, but he had no driver's license and no liability insurance so that there might be some reparation for his actions. He clearly availed himself of all the privileges and freedoms of being in America without being willing to assume any of the responsibilities that go along with it. He had been stopped several times by law enforcement previous to killing Corrie. Each time he escaped by

⁴The circuit court did not include the listed letters in the record for the appeal. Thus, the court of appeals did not have them when it decided this case. The undersigned counsel was first appointed to represent Salas Gayton when his case reached the Wisconsin Supreme Court. She discovered the oversight and filed a motion to supplement the record, which this Court granted on December 9, 2015. *See* R.49-R.55.

providing phony identification. He clearly and intentionally sought never to comply with the law. Had law enforcement been able to identify him as an illegal alien, he would have been deported and this tragic accident would never have occurred.

He repeatedly and intentionally avoided law enforcement. He completely disregarded every basic requirement that applies to all of us when operating a motor vehicle. He intentionally drove around while consuming copious amounts of alcohol. He again sought to avoid law enforcement by going the wrong way on a highway and Corrie happened to be in the wrong place at the wrong time in the face of this purposeful law breaker who has no regard for the rights or safety of others. Clearly his conduct merits the most severe of punishments. In fact, the maximum penalty allowed here is nowhere near severe enough in relation to his conduct.

(App.185).

From Damske's father, Kurt Damske:

Why did Leopoldo Salas Gayton kill (murder) my daughter? The fact that Mr. Gayton was not even in this country legally is only a small part of the problem as I see it. He was selfish, non-law-abiding, non-empathetic, possibly miserable drunk that made choices that can kill innocents—men, women, and children. A person like him should not be allowed on the street at all. Be it a car or a gun, he killed and should receive the maximum penalty allowed.

(App.187).

From Peggy Lamb, Hayden's grandmother:

It is absolutely impossible to comprehend how such a horrible accident could have occurred, because:

- 1. Mr. Gaytan [sic] is in the United States illegally and therefore already a criminal.
- Mr. Gayton had been apprehended several times for past driving violations and was never turned over to immigration authorities.
- 3. Mr. Gaytan has no regard or respect for the laws of our country and our community.
- Mr. Gayton had no right to not only live, work and drive in our country; he certainly did not have the right to be indifferent to the safety and well being of others.
- 5. If Mr. Gayton had been turned over to the proper immigration authorities, he would not have been driving the wrong way on I-94 while intoxicated on January 1, 2011—as he would have been previously deported back to his own country.

(App.188-189).

From Damske's sister, Jennifer Damske:

[Leopoldo] was so intoxicated that he stated he didn't remember the accident. Judge Cimpl, drunk driving is not acceptable. Add homicide to that and it deserves nothing less than the max sentence. He took a life and put countless others in danger, including himself, with his actions . . . He couldn't even remember the accident! That is appalling. Please give my family and Corrie's loved ones some satisfaction and bring this man to justice. People need to know that drunk driving will not be tolerated. It kills!

(App.192).

The circuit court said that it had reviewed all of the letters submitted. (App. 125-126). Then the district attorney argued for a "substantial period of confinement" because Salas Gayton killed "a beautiful, loving mother. She was 34

years old." (App.132). Damske, he said, "was a woman who simply was driving on the freeway." (App.131). He stressed: "She was secure in the fact that she was traveling properly in the right lane when something happened that could make any of us victims of a homicide, and that is that the defendant made a choice, perhaps because he was intoxicated not a knowing choice; but he made a choice to get on the freeway and drive the wrong way." (*Id.*) "The defendant's blood alcohol level was .145, close to twice the amount of the legal limit allowed in the State of Wisconsin for a prima facie case of intoxication," he emphasized. (App.132-133). He pointed out that Salas Gayton had previously been convicted of two violations for driving without a license. (App.133-134).

Then Damske's mother spoke at the sentencing hearing. She described how awful it was to lose her daughter and for her granddaughter to lose her mom. She also stated that "Mr. Gayton made a choice, a choice to live for years *in this country without citizenship.*" (App.142). (Emphasis supplied). She noted that this was one of his choices that claimed the life of her daughter. (*Id.*)

Next, Michelle Friedman, Damske's friend and the wife of James Friedman, addressed the court. Among other things, she said:

This is the moment in [sic] truth in sentencing, and what does a man who killed [Damske] in exchange for easy drink and selfish and irresponsible conduct deserve? We cannot contemplate that he was down on his luck, has a fifth-grade education, is an alcoholic or any other excuse one might give.

Killing Cory [sic] was not his first act of lawlessness. It was just one of a series of times for which he was caught. He had no intentions [sic] of complying with the laws in this country, and that was proven when his feet hit U.S. soil as an illegal immigrant.

At the time of this homicide, he had no license, no insurance and no intention of respecting the law that governs our country.

He came to this country and availed himself of the privileges we provided to our citizens, but he had no intentions to [sic] complying with our laws. Then he stepped up his lawlessness by killing a productive, passionate, beautiful and loving individual...

[W]e have the power in this case to not only issue a stiff sentence but also *make a strong statement about* the tragedy and pain caused by *drinking and driving*.

(App. 146-147). (Emphasis supplied). She continued:

The issue of punishment is one that some judges are remiss to do in similar cases and give him the maximum. 15 years in prison and after that *swift deportation is a well-deserved punishment...*

A punishment of less than the maximum, 15 years in jail and 10 years supervision, *a/k/a deportation*, would also unduly depreciate the seriousness of this crime.

(App. 148). (Emphasis supplied).

Then defense counsel spoke and stressed that Salas Gayton has no prior convictions. He has held a job and contributed to the community ever since he arrived in the United States. He has never applied for or received government aid. He did have a drinking problem but he found sobriety and had been involved in a program to help others stop drinking. (App.157-159).

Counsel noted that Salas Gayton had a prior municipal citation and misdemeanor conviction for driving without a license, but this was his first time in court for drinking and driving. (App.161-162). She noted that this offense is "committed across the board in the community by people of

all ages, races, background, citizens and non-citizens alike." (App.152). She pointed out that Salas Gayton had an almost completely clean criminal record, a point that the district attorney stipulated to. (App.154-156). She stressed:

So to say that he had no intention of following the laws of this country and basically has broken every law that he had an opportunity to do, it's just not true, Your Honor.

(App.154).

Defense counsel argued that Salas Gayton's noncitizen status was irrelevant to the court's sentencing decision, but the court disagreed:

Ms. Johnson: The fact as I see it that Mr. Salas is not a citizen in my opinion, as it relates to this case, is not terribly relevant. He came—

The Court: It goes to character.

Ms. Johnson: I agree. He did come to this country to work. He has positively supported himself in the community. For the most part, he stayed out of the criminal justice system. To say that he does not value our laws [and has] been a detriment to the community, I don't think is an honest statement.

(App.160). (Emphasis supplied).

Counsel said that she had done research regarding the sentences given in similar cases and found that defendants had received probation with substantial condition time and community service. (App.163). She asked for two years of initial confinement with extended supervision left to the court. (App.163).

Next, the mother of Salas Gayton's fiancée spoke to the court. She explained that Salas Gayton was in love with her daughter. He had been sober for 3.5 years but he and her daughter had had a disagreement on New Year's Eve (just before the accident), and he began to drink. (App.164-168). The court again interrupted:

The Court: Well, according to the report that I got from Dr. Pankiewicz, he is married to somebody. *His wife is in Mexico*.

(App.165). (Emphasis supplied). Salas Gayton explained that he had never married. (*Id*.)

Salas Gayton told the court that he used to live on the streets of Milwaukee until someone helped him find a job, a place to sleep and a church to attend. Just as someone helped him, he started to help others. (App.169-170). He begged for forgiveness. At the time of the accident, he was not even aware that he was driving. He said: "I never thought I could feel so much pain for something I did, for something I did and caused, I'm truly sorry because I drank again." (App.170).

Finally, the court began its sentencing decision, noting that it had to address restitution (which it considered easy), but the other objectives were not.

The other goals are punishment, deterrence. That means sending a message to you, Mr. Salas as well as everybody in the community that you just can't get behind a wheel of [sic] car, 4,000 pounds, a 4,000 pound weapon, if you're intoxicated without suffering consequences. That's deterrence.

Then the last goal is rehabilitation, and that's somewhat hampered in your case by your status. Because *I don't know what the United States government is going to do with you when this sentence is over. I don't know if they're going to deport you.* I have no power in that regard.

(App.171). (Emphasis supplied).

Highlighting the serious nature of the crime, the court said: "A young woman is dead, 34 years old, *beautiful*, *out on the first day of the year driving. Minding her own business* and tragically taken away from us." (App.172)(emphasis supplied).

There is a reason we have licenses in this country and all the world, and that is we just don't let anybody get behind that automobile which can be a weapon.

Mr. Williams [district attorney] said in your state you might have been better shooting a gun at the freeway. You probably would have missed everybody, rather than aiming the weapon that you did.

(App.172).

The court recounted that Salas Gayton had been driving with a .145 BAC. Afraid that he would be stopped, he inadvertently entered the highway heading the wrong direction, and traveled for about a mile at 50 mph. (App.172-173). The court added:

The fact that you're an illegal alien doesn't enter into the serious nature of the crime or the need to protect the community. It goes to character. It's a minor character flaw very honestly.

(App.173). (Emphasis supplied).

The court told Salas Gayton to look around the courtroom because four major television stations had cameras there. "They want to know what happens to somebody who takes a car, a weapon, and drives drunk and kills somebody. [I]f I had one wish, what I would ask is that the television stations say, you drive drunk, first time, second time, third time, fourth time, fifth time, you go to prison." (App.174). The court said that Salas Gayton did not intend to kill the victim but that he did intend to drive drunk. (App.175).

Turning to the matter of Salas Gayton's character, the court said:

You're from the nation of Mexico. You've got a 5th grade education. You're in this country for 13 and half years, Milwaukee for two years. You've got three kids in Mexico.

* * *

You've got sporadic employment, trying to better yourself. That's why you're in this country. Although you're here illegally, it's a factor, a minor factor, but it goes to your character.

(App.176). (Emphasis supplied).

Later the court said:

[Ms.] Johnson correctly stated that [drinking] never interfered in his life. Never had a serious enough crime for us to try and intervene. But he could have done that on his own, even as an illegal in this country.

There's plenty of places on the south side of Milwaukee that cater to Latinos that would help them with their drinking problems. He could have done it on his own. He didn't.

(App.178). (Emphasis supplied).

When you get out, *if you're allowed to be in this country*, you will seek and maintain full-time employment. While you're in prison get yourself a GED or HSED; so that even if you're not allowed back in this country and *you go back to Mexico*, you have those skills.

(App.179). (Emphasis supplied).

On count 1, the court imposed 22 years imprisonment (15 years initial confinement/7 years extended supervision).

On count 3, it imposed 9 months imprisonment to be served concurrently.⁵ (App.180).

The Postconviction Decision

Salas Gayton filed a Wis. Stat. § 809.30 postconviction motion for plea withdrawal arguing that the circuit court failed to properly advise him of the immigration consequences of his "no contest" pleas by deviating from the immigration advisement mandated by Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) and that he would likely be deported and excluded from admission to the United States because of his pleas. (R.29).⁶ Alternatively, Salas Gayton moved for resentencing on the grounds that the circuit court did not explain why it imposed the maximum period of initial confinement contrary to State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197 and *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). Lastly, he challenged the DNA surcharge imposed. (R.29). The court denied the postconviction motion without a hearing, held that the sentencing record fully complied with Gallion, and set forth a sufficient rationale for imposing a DNA surcharge. (App.114-117).

The Court of Appeals Decision

Salas Gayton appealed and raised the same issues but stressed the sentencing court's improper reliance on the fact that he is an "illegal alien." The court of appeals held that the circuit court: (a) did not erroneously exercise its discretion in sentencing Salas Gayton, (b) did not improperly refer to or

⁵ For count 1, the maximum term of imprisonment is 15 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. For count 3, the maximum term of imprisonment is nine months.

⁶ Salas Gayton's counsel withdrew this particular issue from his appeal after the court of appeals decided *State v. Mursal*, 2013 WI App 125, 351 Wis. 2d 180, 839 N.W.2d 173.

rely upon Salas Gayton's "status as an alien" as an aggravating sentencing factor, and (c) gave a sufficient reason for imposing a DNA surcharge upon Salas Gayton. (App.101-112).

Judge Kessler, concurring, noted that Salas Gayton could reasonably believe that the court considered his immigration status "a *significant negative factor* when imposing his sentence." (App.113). (Emphasis supplied). She said that the court of appeals is "increasingly" seeing "appeals claiming error in sentencing based on the sentencing court's multiple referrals to a defendant's race, ethnicity or immigration status." (App.113). Thus, she cautioned:

Sentencing courts should be cognizant that defendants may perceive judicial impropriety in sentencing when multiple comments based on race, ethnicity or immigration status are made. When the perception of bias reasonably exists, the perception of fairness suffers, to the detriment of the judicial system as a whole.

(App.113).

Salas Gayton filed a petition for review that challenged all three holdings by the court of appeals. This Court granted review on one issue, which it framed for itself. (App.198).

ARGUMENT

I. Definition of Terms and General Principles of Immigration Law.

There is little Wisconsin case law regarding the intersection between immigration and criminal law. Some definitions and basic principles are thus helpful to understanding the issue in this case.

Foreigners who live in the United State without authorization or documentation are sometimes called "unauthorized immigrants," "undocumented immigrants," "illegal immigrants," "illegal aliens" and other names. These terms obviously have two parts: an adjective and a noun (alien or immigrant). "Alien" according to the Department of Homeland Security and the Immigration and Nationality Act, means "any person not a citizen or national of the United States." "Immigrant" means "every alien" except those who fall into certain classes of nonimmigrant aliens. 8 U.S.C. § 1101(15). All of the terms signify alienage or a person having a national origin other than the United States, *i.e.* a foreigner.

According to the Pew Research Center, there are over 11 million "unauthorized immigrants" in the United States. ⁹ It is estimated that nearly half of them entered the United States legally with, for example, visas or border crossing cards, and later violated the terms of their admission. The other half are believed to have evaded immigration inspectors and border patrol. ¹⁰ Thousands of "illegal immigrant" children arrive in

⁷ A concurrence to the order granting review in this case calls for the Wisconsin Supreme Court to refrain from using the term "illegal immigrant" because it is pejorative and attempts to define a person rather than his conduct. (App.200). Consistent with this view, the Associated Press recently changed its style book for authors. Now "illegal" may be used to describe conduct, not people. https://blog.ap.org/announcements/illegal-immigrant-no-more (last visited Dec. 8, 2015). One recent U.S. Supreme Court opinion uses the term "unauthorized alien." *Arizona v. U.S.*, __U.S.__, 132 S.Ct. 2492 (2012). Another uses "undocumented immigrants." *Mohawk Industries, Inc. v. Carpenter*, 558 U.S. 100, 103 (2009).

⁸ See http://www.dhs.gov/definition-terms (last visited Dec. 8, 2015) and 8 U.S.C. § 1101(3).

⁹ See Unauthorized Immigrants: Who they are and what the public thinks, http://www.pewresearch.org/key-data-points/immigration/ (last visited Dec. 8, 2015).

¹⁰ See Modes of Entry for the Unauthorized Migrant Population, http://www.pewhispanic.org/2006/05/22/modes-of-entry-for-the-unauthorized-migrant-population/ (last visited Dec. 8, 2015).

the United States each month—many brought here by their families. ¹¹ In 2014, Mexicans made up about half of "unauthorized immigrants" in the United States. ¹²

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