#### **RECEIVED**

05-22-2014

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALQF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2013AP646-CR (Milwaukee County Cir. Ct. Case No. 2011CF73)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LEOPOLDO R. SALAS GAYTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF
ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL AND
ELLEN R. BROSTROM PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1013313

Attorneys For Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS SENTENCING DISCRETION WHEN THE COURT IMPOSED ON SALAS GAYTON THE MAXIMUM TERM OF INITIAL CONFINEMENT.

Salas Gayton contends that, for two reasons, the circuit court did not properly exercise its sentencing discretion: first, the court allegedly failed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967).

to explain adequately its reasons for imposing a sentence of twenty-two years of imprisonment consisting of the fifteen-year maximum term of initial confinement followed by a seven-year period of extended supervision; second, the circuit court allegedly relied on an improper factor — Salas Gayton's status as an alien illegally in the United States — to increase the harshness of the sentence.

For two reasons, this court should reject Salas Gayton's contentions and should affirm both the judgment of conviction and the circuit court's order denying Salas Gayton's motion for postconviction relief.

First, the circuit court adequately explained its reasons for the sentence. In denying Salas Gayton's postconviction motion, the court cogently explained why the sentencing judge properly exercised discretion:<sup>4</sup>

The defendant also contends that Judge Cimpl erroneously exercised his discretion by failing to adequately explain his reasons for imposing a maximum sentence in this case. The defendant was driving drunk and without a valid license the wrong way on the freeway [45:51]. He hit a vehicle and killed a 34 year old woman [45:51]. The State indicated that she was hit with such force that her steering wheel and dashboard were pushed into the driver's seat. (Tr. 7/22/11, p. 12 [45:12]). The defendant was pulled over twice previously for driving without a license.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Milwaukee County Circuit Court Judge Dennis R. Cimpl imposed the sentence (45:1). Milwaukee County Circuit Court Judge Ellen R. Brostrom issued the order denying the postconviction motion (30:5).

(<u>Id.</u> at 25 [45:25]). The defendant was in this country illegally for 13-14 years. (<u>Id.</u> at 36, 39 [45:36, 39]).

The court stated its goals as punishment, deterrence, and rehabilitation. (Id. at 50 [45:50]). It considered the extremely serious nature of the crime [45:51-53], the need for protection in the community based on the defendant's inability to follow the rules [45:53-54], and the fact that the defendant hit at least one other car on the freeway without stopping [45:51] before ultimately hitting the victim's car and killing her. The court considered the defendant's character [45:54-56], his employment [45:55], his drinking problem [45:55, 56], and his remorse [45:56]. It also considered the offense from the victim's perspective [45:54]. This was an egregious offense, and the defendant has a long-standing drinking problem. Given the totality of circumstances presented, the court cannot find that there was an erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion. The sentencing record complies fully with State v. Gallion, 270 Wis.2d 535 (2004).

(30:4-5 (record cites added)). A court need not explain its sentencing decision with mathematical precision. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 49. Here, based on the totality of the record and on the totality of the court's sentencing remarks (45:49-57), the court's sentencing decision satisfied the standards set out in *McCleary*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, and *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535. Salas Gayton obviously does not like the sentence imposed and also obviously thinks (for some reason) that he would have received a less-severe sentence if the court had spent more time explaining its rationale. But neither *McCleary* nor *Gallion* required the court to offer more of an explanation than it provided. If anything, the egregiousness of Salas Gayton's offense — intentionally driving drunk for a mile on the wrong side of a high-speed highway and not stopping after sideswiping at least one vehicle before causing the violent collision that all-butinstantly killed the victim — by itself, without any explanation, would have justified the imposed sentence. The court's additional remarks served to buttress the self-evident need for the severe sentence and fully satisfied the court's obligation to explain the rationale for the sentence.

Second, the court's references to Salas Gayton's status as a person illegally in the United States did not amount to reliance on an improper sentencing factor. At the outset, the State notes that in his postconviction motion to withdraw his plea, Salas Gayton did not assert this claim as a basis for asserting an erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion (29:6-9). See, e.g., State v. Caban, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997) (appellate court will not consider for the first time on appeal any issues not presented in the circuit court; "The party raising the issue on appeal has the burden of establishing, by reference to the record, that the issue was raised before the circuit court."); State v. Keith, 216 Wis. 2d 61, 80, 573 N.W.2d 888 (Ct. App. 1997) ("Arguments which are not raised at the trial level are deemed waived.").

But even assuming Salas Gayton did not waive or forfeit this ground for his erroneous-exercise-of-sentencing-discretion claim, the record does not indicate that Salas Gayton's immigration status affected the circuit court's sentencing decision. The court noted that Salas Gayton's immigration status served as, at most, "a minor character flaw" (45:52) and "minor factor" (45:55). Moreover, Salas Gayton's lawyer agreed with the court that Salas Gayton's status as a person illegally in the United States "goes to character" (45:39), further waiving any basis for Salas Gayton to assert the court's

remarks as indicating an erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion.

In any event, a defendant's immigration status does not operate as an improper or irrelevant factor for sentencing purposes. *Cf.*, *e.g.*, *United States v. Flores-Olague*, 717 F.3d 526, 535 (7th Cir. 2013) ("A sentencing court is well within its prerogatives and responsibilities in discussing a defendant's status as a deportable alien."). In addition, the court's reference to Salas Gayton's immigration status did not fit within the category of comments characterized as "unreasonably inflammatory, provocative, or disparaging." *United States v. Tovar-Pina*, 713 F.3d 1143, 1148 (7th Cir. 2013).

The cases on which Salas Gayton relies do not lead to a different result. See Salas Gayton's Brief at 14. While the State agrees with Salas Gayton that a person "has a constitutional due process right not to be sentenced on the basis of his nationality or race," see id., the State disagrees with his ipse dixit adding "alien status" as one of those due-process-protected classifications, id. None of the cases he cited place immigration status in the protected categories of race, nationality, and gender. Even in *United States v. Velasquez Velasquez*, 524 F.3d 1248 (11th Cir. 2008), the court

United States v. Velasquez Velasquez, 524 F.3d
 1248 (11th Cir. 2008); United States v. Leung, 40 F.3d
 577 (2d Cir. 1994); State v. Harris, 2010 WI 79, 326
 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 905 (9th ed. 2009) ("[s]omething asserted but not proved").

did not hold that a person's immigration status could not affect a sentence. Rather, the court declared "that a judge may not impose a more severe sentence than he would have otherwise based on unfounded assumptions regarding an individual's immigration status or on his personal views of immigration policy." *Id.* at 1253 (emphasis added). In Salas Gayton's case, the circuit court did not rely on unfounded assumptions about Salas Gayton's immigration status or on personal views of immigration policy.

In short, the circuit court properly exercised its sentencing discretion by considering and sufficiently explaining the relevant sentencing considerations and did not rely on any irrelevant or improper factor.

# II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS SENTENCING DISCRETION WHEN THE COURT ORDERED SALAS GAYTON TO PAY A DNA SURCHARGE.

At sentencing, the circuit court ordered Salas Gayton to provide a DNA sample and to "be responsible for all of the costs of this action, including a DNA surcharge.<sup>[7]</sup> That is part of the punishment, part of the rehabilitation" (45:58 (footnote added)). Salas Gayton does not object to providing the DNA sample, but he does object to paying the DNA surcharge. He contends that the court erroneously exercised its discretion by imposing the surcharge without providing an ade-

 $<sup>^7</sup>$   $\,$  See Wis. Stat.  $\S$  973.046(1g) (authorizing imposition of DNA surcharge).

quate explanation. See Salas Gayton's Brief at 18. See also 29:9-11 (postconviction motion).

Salas Gayton objects that the DNA surcharge in his case violates *State v. Cherry*, 2008 WI App 80, 312 Wis. 2d 203, 752 N.W.2d 393. *Cherry* prohibits a court from "imposing the DNA surcharge simply because it can." *Id.* ¶ 10. *Cherry* also set out a nonexclusive list of factors for a sentencing court to consider when deciding whether to impose the surcharge:

[W]e conclude that some factors to be considered could include: (1) whether the defendant has provided a DNA sample in connection with the case so as to have caused DNA cost; (2) whether the case involved any evidence that needed DNA analysis so as to have caused DNA cost; (3) financial resources of the defendant; and (4) any other factors the trial court finds pertinent.

*Id.* See also State v. Ziller, 2011 WI App 164, ¶ 10, 338 Wis. 2d 151, 807 N.W.2d 241 (characterizing Cherry factors as "nonexclusive").

This court should affirm the circuit court's discretionary decision to impose the DNA surcharge.<sup>8</sup> The court had an obligation to require Salas Gayton to provide a DNA sample. Wis. Stat. § 973.047(1f). Consequently, Salas Gayton "has provided a DNA sample in connection with the case so as to have caused DNA cost," thus satisfying the first *Cherry* factor. Salas Gayton agreed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "A circuit court's decision whether to impose a surcharge under Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1g) involves the exercise of the court's discretion." *State v. Simonis*, 2012 WI App 84, ¶ 8, 343 Wis. 2d 663, 819 N.W.2d 328.

restitution in the amount of \$11,075 (45:7), thus indicating he had the resources (per the third *Cherry* factor) to pay the DNA surcharge of \$250. *Cf.* **Ziller**, 338 Wis. 2d 151, ¶ 13 ("Given that the court found that Ziller had the ability to pay \$10,000 in restitution based on his employability, there was no reason for the court to restate that Ziller had the ability to pay the \$250 DNA surcharge. What is obvious need not be repeated."). Moreover, the court did not impose the surcharge merely because the court thought it could. Rather, the court imposed the surcharge both as part of the punishment and as a matter of rehabilitation, a rationale consistent with the fourth *Cherry* factor.

In short, a sentencing court cannot impose the surcharge as a matter of will, caprice, or immoveable court policy. *Cherry*, 312 Wis. 2d 203, ¶ 6 (rejecting trial court's policy of "impos[ing] the surcharge whenever possible"). But a sentencing court also need not "explicitly describe its reasons for imposing a DNA surcharge." **Ziller**, 338 Wis. 2d 151, ¶ 12 ("If Ziller is asking this court to adopt a rule whereby a circuit court must explicitly describe its reasons for imposing a DNA surcharge, we decline to adopt such a rule. The circuit court is in the best position to examine the relevant sentencing factors in each case. The burden is therefore on the defendant to show that the sentence is unreasonable . . . . " (citation omitted)). Here, in accord with *Cherry* and *Ziller*, the sentencing court provided a sufficient explanation for imposing the DNA surcharge.

#### Conclusion

For the reasons offered in this brief, this court should affirm the circuit court's order denying Salas Gayton's postconviction motion and should affirm the judgment of conviction.